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ANDREW J.HALL
Civil War Diary Excer pt

Thefollowingisaloosetranscription fromthe Civil
War diary of Andrew J. Hall. Theoriginal, asin most
small diaries, isdifficult to read and understand, as
thereislittleintheway of puncuation, and many
wordsarespelled incorrectly. Thismakesthe
original hard to read and understand at times, but the
excerpt below has been re-written to be better
understood. Andrew J. Hall wasbornin Epsom and
movedto lllinoisbeforethe Civil War wherehe
married and had two children. Following thewar the
family returned to Epsom, and areburiedinthe
McClary Cemetery.

This book belongsto A.J. Hall - Lebanon, S.
Clair County, Illinois

| enlisted in the U.S service at Summerfield, S.
Clair, Il, July 8th, 1861. | left Summerfield for
Camp Butler in Springfield, lllinois august 21st,
1861. Sopped at east . Louis over night and
took the cars. On the 22nd am, arrived at Camp
Butler at three 0’ clock pm, and was sworn into
U.S. service, and bought a horse for one hundred
and twenty five dollars on the 26th of August.
Received our saddles and receipted for them at
thirty-five dollars on the 30th of August.

Left Camp Butler on the morning of September
4th, took the cars at James town on the great
Western R.R., changed cars at Decater Junction
of the GW. & SC. RR, arrived at Carbondale
Jackson County, Illinois at eleven o’ clock pm.
No arrangements had been made for our
comfort. We tied out horses in the woods back of
town without any feed for them, and without any
supper for ourselves. Some of us got into an old
school house for a shelter. | took one of the seats
for my bed and rested as well as circumstances
would admit.

On the 5th our camp was selected in the timber
joining the town, our camp was names Camp
Logan. | belong to Co. E, 2nd Regiment of
[llinois Cavalry. On the 11th of September we

had everything ready for a move at daylight - it
was raining very hard and continued to rain all
the forenoon after a muddy and fatiguing march
of eleven hours. We arrived at Camp Nason near
Daquoin on the SC.R.R. On the 22nd of
September, we left camp Nason for Metropoles
on the Ohio River, twelve miles below Paducah.

On the night of the 22nd we camped near
Blairsville. On the 23rd we camped on the Saline
Creek, and on the 24th camped near Viana.
Nothing of interest has occurred on our march
until tonight when we came into Viana. We found
several Union flags proudly floating over the
town and three salutes from a cannon was fired
as we entered the town. This was cheering to us
for we had been traveling a country where the
inhabitants strongly sympathized with the South.
They gave us many a sour and surly look.

After we had camped for the night, a German
came into camp and reported that we would find
the road blockaded by rebels 14 miles from Viana
on our next days march. Our men were also
stating that they had seen thetrail of alarge
gang of horses across the road several miles
back in the woods before we got to Viana. We
also remembered that for the last 25 miles,
nearly every house was vacant. Sometimes we
would see some woman and children, but no
men. This began to ook suspicious and began to
create considerable excitement. Some thought
that the trail we had seen was a company of
mounted rebels that were watching our
movement. It is necessary here to state that our
force amounted to about 940 men (cavalry)
commanded by Col. Noble, and our arms
consisted of forty carbines and about cartridges
enough to load them once. These are all the arms
that we had to defend ourselves with - thisis
what caused the excitement.

We could have been whipped very easily. Some
expected that we would be attacked before
morning. Some were in favor of keeping their
horses saddled so asto beready for aretreat in
case we should be attacked; others declared that
they would fight with clubs and die on the spot



before they would leave the ground. As for
myself, | did not approve of the management. |
thought it was not right to take us into the
enemy’s country without arms. | was not the
least excited, for | did not think that we werein
any danger. | went to sleep with my head on my
saddle and had a good nights rest. | woke up in
the morning and found everything all right.

Lieutenant Col. Hogg, with twenty men, scouted
all night, but discovered nothing unusual. On the
25th we took up our line of march and arrived at
Metropoles and camped at the Old Fort Massac,
a little above Metropoles, on the bank of the
Ohio River, twelve miles below Paducah,
Kentucky. No provisions were made for us. We
had to buy bread and meat for our supper and
sleep on the ground without any straw, the
ground being very wet and we only had one
blanket. We could not sleep very comfortably. We
were in this condition four nights, then we got
some straw to sleep on. Soon as we came into
Metropoles, our boys got a secesh flag froma
yawl, which was soon distributed among the
boys.

Sept. 28th. | must state that since we have been
at this camp we have been having hard bread
and it was full of worms. The boys had become
very much dissatisfied. They thought they were
imposed on and they were determined to oppose
the insult, so they formed a funeral procession of
about twenty-five or thirty men and started with
a barrel of wormy crackerstowards theriver to
bury them. Before they got to theriver there were
two or three hundred soldiersin the procession.
The crackers and worms were buried together in
god order, then another barrel was taken to the
guartermaster’s tent and turned out on the
ground, and three groans were given the
guartermaster. The processions then marched
back in front of the Colonel’s tent. One of the
soldiers made a brief but el oquent speech. Three
cheers were given for the speaker and three
groans for the quartermaster, and they then
retired to their quarters.

Availableonlinea Epsomhistory.com/epsomy/

SEPTEMBER MEETING

HIGHLIGHTSMcCLARY

CEMETERY AND EARLY
TOWN CENTER

An approaching wesather front keptthe September
meeting from being held at the M cClary Cemetery,
andinstead met at itsinclement weather alternative,
theoldtown hal. Instead of actudly viewingand
surveying burying sitesand thetown center, aseries
of photosand slideswere prepared and shown to
thosein attendance a ong with the prepared text of
theprogram.

Theprogram combined the history of the*burying
ground’ with that of the growth of Epsom Center, as
themajority of thoseearly settlersare buried at that
location. Among therevel ationswerethat the actua
first meeting house was erected on that site about
1736, and wasreplaced by asecond meetinghouse
on the samelocation within the bounds of the
burying groundin 1764. It lso cameto light that the
purchase of land to enlarge the old burying ground
was madein 1872 by the M cClary Cemetery
Corporation and bought from Hiram Holmes.
Holmes, along with Henry Knox and Horace
Bickford, bought back theland withthe provision
that it only be used asaburying place, and thetrio
sold off lotsuntil sold to thetownin 1902. It wasin
1872 that theterm M cClary Cemetery cameinto
use. Theprogramaso highlighted theearly trust
funds, including that which replaced theold stone
wall with thecurrent iron fence, and followed the
installation of water and other improvementsto the
grounds. Along theway some of thefuneralsand
obituariesof Epsom’searly citizenswereread, anda
list of many of themorewel | known inhabitantswas
given.

AUCTION.
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EPSOM’S TOWN POUND
AND TRAMP HOUSE

Thefirst mention of atown pound wasin March of
1788 when Francis L ocke was selected as pound
keeper. The pound was near the parsonage, andin
1795, at town meeting it wasvoted “ that any person
or persons may movethe pound in Epsom further
back on the parsonage ot so that the front thereof
may stand parallel with thewall back of the
schoolhouse, provideit be placed and underpinned
aswdll asitisnow and without any expenseto the
town.” It remained at thislocation, till with Francis
L ocke aspound keeper until 1808, wheninthe
town warrant iswas asked “to seewhat method the
townwill adopt to erect apound for the use of said
town.” It wasvoted that apound be erected on
Capt. Samuel Locke sland near the house of
Reuben Locke, lately occupied, ontheturnpike
road; that the pound for the use of thetown be built
of stone, thirty fivefeet squarewithinsideat the
bottom and four feet thick at the bottom; and two
feet at thetop, and six feet high of stonewithacap
of yellow pine8inchesby 10inchesfree of sap; that
the building of the pound be set up by the Selectmen
at publicauctiontothelowest bidder. Thissitewas
down near what was|ater Knowl€ sstore, onthe
new turnpikeroad, which bypassed the ol der route
up Center Hill to get to the coast. Thetown center
was shifting, and the property owner, Samuel

L ocke, was el ected pound keeper. Samuel Locke
wasoneof several tavern/storeownersintheares,
another was John Batchel der, who was pound
keeper in 1810. Thejob returned to Samuel Locke
who heldit until hissudden deathin 1816, andin
1817 itwasheld by hisson Daniel EvansLocke.
By 1820 Abel Brown assumed the duties of that
office, followed by John Ham Jr. for two years
before Mr. Brown once again took over itsupkeep
for the next several years. Town reportsand records
lapse, and the next mention of thetown pound was
inJuneof 1876, when Andrew S. Evans, wholived
not far from the pound, wroteto the Selectmen—“1
hereby notify you that the pound in thistown had
been and isnow out of repair. | therefore hereby
request youto put itinrepair in accordancewiththe

law of thisState. If thisrequest isnot complied with
| intend to bring suit against thetown.”

Theresolution of thematter isunknown.

Itisnot exactly known when thetown started to pay
expensesfor trans entsand trampsthrough town.
Budgetsfrom themid 1880 salready show that
individualsintownwerepaid adollar for the care of
each tramp—with the Chedley Brothersin oneyear
receiving $57 dollars. Thecarefor trampsand the
fate of thetown pound coincidein 1902, asthis
articlefromtheearly 1940'sinthe Union shows,
and compl etes, our history of each.

Epsom Tramp House at

Epsom Has New L ocation

“Specid totheUnion. Epsom,Aug. 21.—The
Epsom tramp houseisoneof thefirst victimsof the
construction project on the Concord-Dover road,
Route 9, being built through thetown. Thetramp
housewas situated directly in the path of the new
road, asit straightensout to cut off acurve east of
the Epsom Post office.

Above - Henry Dowst Photo - Tramp House
- was across from Clayton Mason house on
Route 4 North of Circle, near where road
went to town dump.

Thebuilding was|oaded onto atrailer truck, and the
moversplannedto setit downinanearby field.



However, the owner of theland put up avigorous
protest, and the tramp house moved on. After
making variousattemptsto find asituationfor the
wandering tramp housg, it finally cameto rest nearly
three milesnearer Concord, ontown land west of
the Four Corners.Thetramp housewasbuiltin 1902
by Jackson C. Philbrick, father of M.C. Philbrick,
Epsom’sveteran town clerk. Thedecisonto havea
town shelter for tramps came after astormy session
at thetown meeting when some objected because
thetown had paid $60 to local factotumsfor feeding
andlodging 60itinerantsthe previousyear.

Thebuilding waserected on the site of theold town
pound, using the stonewall for afoundation. The
total cost was $96.32. The stove camefromtheold
Congregational churchwhichformerly stood at
Epsom. The housewasfitted with bunks, and was
otherwise comfortably equipped.

However, theknightsof theroad showed their
appreciation by stealing the bed clothing and
breaking up thebunksfor fudl. After variousefforts
weregiventofurnishthebuilding, effortsweregiven
up and now the parapherndiaincludesthestove, a
pile of cordwood and asaw. Thosewho wishto
keepwarm havethe privilege of sawing upthe
cordwood for their use.

Many of thetramps makeregular stopsat the
Epsom tramp house, returning at intervalsto take
advantage of thetown'shospitdity. It wasformerly
the customto furnish each visitor with aloaf of
bread and acan of beans; and sometimes some
other supplieswereincluded. Oneman always
called for dried apricots and canned heat to cook
them with. At present each tramp receivesaloaf of
bread and an invitationto moveoninthemorning.

Theyear 1937 wasabanner onefor tramps, as455
of themweregiven anight’slodging and abreakfast
at acost to thetown of $182. In 1940 the expense
waslessthan haf of thisfigure. Many of theyounger
men who were unemployed because of actual
scarcity of paying work are no longer ontheroad,
but the old timers make the usua rounds. One of
them called thisweek at the general store near the
former location of thetramp houseand said wistfully
“Well, | seetheold hotel hasgone!™’

EPSOM CEMETERY
INSCRIPTIONS

No. 18
WEélls - Brown Cemetery

Along stonewall behind Pattillo horsefarm, New Rye

Brown

JB AE 54 D1808 (original fieldstone of
Joseph below)

Mr. Joseph Brown, In meory of, who died
June 27, 1808, ae 54 yrs (Son of Jos. &
Abigail Goss)

Abigail (Dolbeer), In memory of, wife of
Joseph Brown, died Aug. 22, 1842, ae 85
y'rsé& 7 mo.

Mary Ann, daughter of Capt. Eleck and
Mary Brown, died Feb. 9, 1834, age 6 yrs
8 ms

Mary M., daughter of Capt. Eleck and
Mary Brown, died Dec. 28, 1823, ae 2 yrs
& 8 ms

Wedls

Samuel Wells, In memory of, who died
Sept. 21, 1855, aged 79 y'rs

Hannah (Brown), In memory of, wife of
Samuel Wellswho died Sept. 21, 1840, ae
59 years & 5 mo. (dau. of Joseph and
Abigail [Dolbeer] Brown)




GENEALOGY NEWS

The casefor Hannah Brown

Thehistory of Canterbury by Lyford, inthe
McCrillisgenedogy states” William McCaillis, b.
about 1750, in Deerfield; m. about 1784, Hannah
Brown of Epsom, wherehe settled.” Hediedin
Epsomin 1813, aged 55, putting hisyear of birth
about 1758. Buried next tohimintheMcClary
Cemetery isHannah, wifeof William M’ Crillis, died
Sept. 20, 1839 ae 80y’ rs. Thiswould put the birth
of Hannah Brown about 1759. Therewere many
Brown familiesthat cameto Epsom - sowho were
Hannah's parents?

L ooking for Hannah Brown’swith connectionsto
Epsomraised afew possibilities. Hannah, born
about 1750 married Joseph Marston; Hannah
Brown born 1759 married John Tyler; Hannah
Brown, daughter of Joseph and Abigail Dolbeer
married Samuel Wells. John Brown, who married
Sarah Allen, both buried in Epsom (another story for
another day) wasborn 1759 - son of Jonathan
Brown and Mary Garland - but no sister Hannah.
Therewasinthearea aTrue Brown, but to date no
information on him hasbeenfound.

Thanksto datanow online at the New England
Historic Genedogy Society, the searchfor the
parents of Hannah Brown has concluded. Through
thevital recordsthere, and further research, William
McCrillismarried Hannah Brown, listed in Salisbury,
MA, June9, 1784. Thereisamarriageintention
adsogiven* Marriageintentionfiledin Sdisoury, MA
-McCRELLIS(seedso McCirillis), Will[iam [of
Epsom, int.], and Hannah Brown, June 9, 1784. “
Baptism recordsin Salisbury,show that on Oct. 21,
1759, Hannah, daughter of Reuben Brownwas
baptised. Thisinformation compl etesthe search.
Reuben Brown had married Deborah Elliott and had
at least 7 children born in Salisbury, MA. Oneson,
Samauel, married RhodaEaton and cameto
Northwood, NH; hisbrother Reuben, married
Elizabeth Elliott, and their daughter Sarah E. married
Ebenezer Griffin of Northwood - daughter Mary C.
married Reuben Swain - daughter Betsey married
John Cilley, al of the Northwood area, which gives
further tiesfor thisHannah Brown having connec-
tionsto Epsom.

ANSWER

The photo of this
man wastakenin
1895. Heworked in
the building below.
The questions are:
what was his name,
what was his occupa-
tion, and where was
thebuilding?

HisnamewasWilliam Lent, blacksmith, and his
shop wason Route 4 and was| ater the Epsom
Garageof Jm Stedleand Ed Demers. Currently you
can get your haircut thereor buy someinsurance.

FROM THE ONLINE
GUESTBOOK AT EPSOM
EARLY SETTLERS

| shall log on to thiswonderful site again and
study it more. Thanks to the Rand family for
sharing so much information! | note some
mention of the Marden family among your
readers. | wrote and published (hardcover) a
631p. Marden Family Genealogy in 1974. If
anyone thinks it might be helpful to their
research | do have a VERY FEW copiesleft. 1've
also published a large Fitts Gen. (1989) and
have just finished a Getchell book. Those are not
Epsom names but would be glad to receive email
gueries from anyone searching those families.

SylviaFittsGetchell



NEWS OF OLD
from Early Newspapers

TheArgus4-17-1792 OSGOOD DWELLING

OnTuesday the 3d inst. the dwelling house of Col.
Samuel Osgood, of Epsom, accidentally took fire,
andwiththeir provisions, and someof their furniture,
& cwas consumed.

TheMirror 1-30-1795
Unhappy Accident

OnWednesday last, at alarge company of
gentlemen and ladiesfrom Epsom, upon aparty of
pleasure, were crossing theriver inthistown at
Tucker’sferry, the horsesbelonging to one of the
deighson descending the eastern bank, took a
fright, overset and broke the deighto pieces, and
threw thosethat wereinit with such violence upon
theice, that oneof theyoung ladies, MissHannah
Dickey, received such ashock that shehassince
been __ of dl sense, and amost emotion—Sheisat
thehouse of Dr. Carignain, and her lifeis
pronounced extremely dubious.

Newburyport Herald 11-15-1816 I TEM

Mark French, of Epsom, in N.H. hasbeen appre-
hended inAlbany for Robbery. A large quantity of
plunder wasfoundin hispossession.

NH Patriot 3-26-1827
CURIOSITY

A correspondent informs usthat asheep wasfound
by Messrs. Brown and Fossin thewoodsin Epsom,
N.H. inthefirst part of the present month aive,
which had not been at any barn or seen any person
during thewinter; snow for aconsiderable part of
thetime morethan threefeet deep.

9-14-1848 JOSEPH LAWRENCE DWELLING

Fireln Epsom. —Thelargethree-story housein
Epsom, which, for many years, hasstood so boldly
inthetraveler’'seye ashepassed on either of the
leading roadsin Epsom, owned by Mr. Joseph
Lawrence, was consumed by fire, last Wednesday
morning, Soon after sunrise.

NH Gazette 12-17-1784 JOHN GRAY

Portsmouth, December 17. On Monday last, the
son of Major James Gray, of Epsom, about 16
yearsold, inattempting to lead avery unruly horse
of hisfather’sto water, madethe end of the halter
fast about hiswrigt, the horsein prancing hovehim
down and ran away with him, dragged him over a
four broad fence and through thefield, until the
halter broke. Thefamily supposed theyoung man
had goneto spend theevening with hisrelations,
were unconcerned about him until the next morning,
whento their great surprise, they found blood onthe
fencewherethe horse had dragged theyoung man
over, then, following the blood, after sometimefound
him at aconsderabledistancedive, but perfectly
hel plessand senseless; hislifeisdespaired of, asitis
supposed that most of hisboneswere broken.

NH Gazette 6-30-1801 JOHN McCLARY

“Died at Epsom, the 16" inst. the Honourable
JOHN M’CLARY, inthe82"year of hisage—This
family early distinguished themselvesamong the
“Sonsof Liberty” in New Hampshire, and took a
very active and conspicuouspart intheAmerican
Revolution, bothintheField andin the Cabinet. The
daring spirit and martia enterpriseof Mgjor

M’ Clary (abrother of the deceased) wasearly
displayedinthe Field; heroused the hardy Yeoman
of New Hampshire, and |led them to the speedy
assistance of their brethren of Massachustetts; - and
inthememorable battle of Bunker’sHill, inan
exhibition of themost heroic ardour, wasdain. —
Thelate deceased wasequally serviceabletohis
Country inthe Cabinet. Hewas, upon the com-
mencement of thewar, appointed one of the Execu-
tiveof the State, then known by thenameof “The
Committee of Safety,” and continued soto act
during themost trying period of therevolution.
Possessed of firmnessand decision, properly
tempered with prudence and discretion, and sustain-
ing an unimpeachabl e character, whichgavehimthe
confidenceof the people, hewas of essential service
to the State. —Hewas adispassionate Whig of * 75,
and aconsi stent Federalist of ' 98. Having for many
yearsretired from publiclifeto domestic enjoyment,
heisnow removed to that world wherethefaithful
and trueshdl havetheir reward.”



VOLUNTEERS
NEEDED

The Historical Association is getting set to
finally begin to organize and archive its hold-
ings. The work will require filing and organiz-
ing papers in the files; databasing and
archiving properly documents and photos;
organizing old town reports; and databasing
historic items that have been donated.

The association also is in desperate need of
updating our computer system. Our current
computer is old, slow, and does not have the
capacity to even come close to housing our
electronic archives. We will need to scan
much that we have in our files, and any new
items that come our way. The computer will
also hold genealogical information and will
become an important research tool down the
road. A one hundred dollar contribution to-
wards this project has been received to date.
If you can help as a volunteer or perhaps
contribute towards our $500.00 goal to up-
grade our computer system, either email us at
epsomhistory@aol.com or call Harvey
Harkness at 736-4571.

NEW ONLINE

New at the Epsom Early SettlersWeb Site
www.Epsomhistory.com/epsom/

* The History of the McClary Cemetery and the
early settlement of Epsom Center - the complete text
with picturesfrom last months program.

* A transcription of the Andrew J. Hall Civil War
Diary, including an easy to read revision.

* 80 pages of articles and information from old New
England newspapers ranging from 1750 to 1850.

* Listing of Selectpersons and town clerks from the
Incorporation of the town to 2002.

* Photo of Hiram Holmes, hiswife and others along
with a prototype of one of hisinventions.

* Town Pound and Tramp House in Epsom

* Judge Henry Sanborn Biography

* Over 25 portraits added to the gallery

* Epsom related burials a the Old North Cemetery in
Concord

COLLECTIONADDITIONS

The Epsom Historical Association hasreceived two
complimentary publicationsto add toitscollection.
Thefirst“ Chichester Articles’ by Walter L.
Sanborn. Thebook containswonderful picturesand
articlesthat appeared inthe Suncook Valley Sun
over thelast severa years.

The second isabook on geneal ogy of the Munroe
family, compiled by Mary MunroePilsbury. It
coverssuch Epsom surnamesas Munroe, Brown
and Babb, and contains somewonderful photo-
copiesof someof Epsom’searly residentsand
buildings

Our thanks are expressed to both for making these
publicationsavailableto the Historical Association.



